ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
AUG 0 9 2013

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Lancaster County

J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTHONY RODRICKUS CARTER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-203566

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for murder when the State failed to prove who fired the fatal shot and the State failed to introduce evidence that Appellant and the co-defendant joined to accomplish an illegal purpose?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August of 2010, the Lancaster County Grand Jury indicted Anthony Rodrikus Carter for murder, possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, indictments #10-GS-29-1000, 1001. Earlier, in 2009, the Lancaster County Grand Jury indicted Carter for possession of a pistol by a person convicted of a violent crime, indictment #2009-GS-29-1167. On November 7, 2011, Carter proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Ernest J. Kinard. At the close of the State's case on November 9, 2011, Carter pled guilty to possession of a pistol by a person convicted of a violent crime. Sentencing was deferred. On November 10, 2011, the jury found Carter guilty of murder and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. On November 17, 2011, Judge Kinard sentenced Carter to 32 years for murder, 5 years concurrent for possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime and time served for possession of a pistol by a person convicted of a violent crime. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on November 18, 2011. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 3, 2010, gunfire erupted at the Countryside Mobile Home Park in Lancaster. Three year old Jaylen J. was fatally shot as she sat in her car seat in a car parked at the mobile home park. On that evening of May 3, 2010, Marico Stevens and Anthony Carter drove Emmie Amanda Coats to her home in the mobile home park. Stevens was the driver, Carter was in the passenger seat, Coats and Jaylen J. were in the backseat. (R. p. 191, lines 1- p. 192, lines 1-5). Carter and Coats were romantically involved. (R. p. 178, lines 4-20). Stevens was the boyfriend of Jaylen J.'s mother, Rodriana Nisha Cunningham. (R. pp. 126-127).

Coats testified that she was aware of an earlier dispute between Carter "Ant" and Beneco "Neco" Ganson, J.D. Hemphill and John Jarrod Hill, "John John." (R. p. 192, lines 19-23). Hill testified that he gave Carter \$450 to buy drugs and Carter "jumped the fence." (R. p. 251, lines 2-23). Coats testified that on the way to the mobile home park Carter told Stevens about an earlier incident where Ganson, Hemphill and Hill had chased Carter out of the mobile home park. (R. p. 194, lines 1-16). Coats told police that Ganson told Carter that if he ever came to the mobile home park again, he better have a gun. (R. p. 223, lines 2-9). Ganson testified at trial and admitted that he, Hill and Hemphill tried to "get" Carter after he took the money from Hill. (R. p. 299, lines 5 – p. 303, lines 1-7). Ganson also admitted that a group of them beat up Carter's brother. (R. p. 303, lines 14 – p. 304, lines 1-12).

According to Coats, Stevens handed a gun to Carter on their way to the mobile home park. When Stevens pulled into the mobile home park to drop Coats off, Coats saw

Hemphill and Ganson. (R. p. 199, lines 12- 24). They parked in front of Coats' trailer and Carter got out of the car, with the gun, and met J.D. Hemphill in the middle of the road. (R. p. 204, lines 1- p. 205, lines 1-25). An argument ensued and then Carter turned around and returned to the back passenger side of the car. (R. p. 206, lines 1-12). Stevens was standing by the front passenger side of the car near the front of the car. (R. p. 206, lines 18-22). When Carter got back to the car, Coats heard gunshots and saw a flash from across the street. (R. p. 207, lines 6-11). According to Coats, Carter "Ant" turned like he was going to shoot back but then Coats went inside her trailer and heard shooting back and forth. (R. p. 207, lines 17-22). Kayla Estes, Carter's girlfriend, testified that he told her that he met Hemphill in the middle of the road, the "whole thing was quashed." (R. p. 320, lines 17-22). Carter turned and walked away and heard Ganson say, "Fuck that, I'll get him." (R. p. 320, lines 23 – p. 321, lines 1-2). Carter told Estes that he then heard shots, co-defendant Stevens ended up with the gun and started shooting. (R. p. 321, lines 1-10).

Investigator Jeff Steele with the Lancaster County Sheriff's Department testified that casings recovered from the scene included 7.65 millimeter casings, a .380 caliber cartridge casing, and .22 caliber casings. (R. pp. 395-416). Additionally, three .40 caliber casings were obtained from Coats the morning after the shooting. (R. p. 369, lines 18-24; pp. 211 – 214; pp. 236 - 26240). The only gun recovered was a .40 caliber Hi-Point semi-automatic pistol. (R. p. 522, lines 22 – p. 523, lines 1-2).

During the course of the investigation, investigators spoke with Eric and Jackie Sanders, the co defendant's father and step mother, about recovering the gun. Jackie Sanders testified that her husband called someone named Derrick about recovering the gun. (R. p. 360, lines 5-15). As a result of that phone conversation, Jackie met Derrick at a Stop

and Go and he gave her a gun. (R. p. 361, lines 10 – p. 362, 363, lines 1-25). Jackie then turned the gun over to Mike Howell of the Lancaster County Sheriff's Department. (R. pp. 373-375). DNA analysis was performed on the gun and co-defendant Sanders could not be excluded as a possible contributor. (R. p. 510, lines 20-22). Appellant, Carter was excluded as a possible contributor. (R. p. 510, lines 17-18).

Michelle Eichenmiller, a firearms examiner with SLED, testified that the three .40 caliber cartridges collected by Coats, a bullet jacket fragment found in the passenger side floor board of the car, a copper fragment from the headrest in the backseat of the car and a bullet jacket fragment found in the driveway were all fired by the recovered .40 caliber pistol. (R. pp. 523-530). Ken Taylor, a crime scene investigator with the Lancaster County Sheriff's Department, testified that the bullets that entered the car came from the front of the car towards the back of the car. (R. p. 436, lines 3-7).

After the shooting, appellant and co-defendant Stevens left the mobile home park and went to Lawrence Alexander's apartment. (R. pp. 329-333). They did not realize that the child had been shot until Alexander asked about the child. (R. p. 331, lines 22 – p. 332, lines 1-19). Once they realized the child had been shot, they rushed to the hospital. (R. pp. 96 – 102). The child was airlifted to Carolina Medical Center where she was later pronounced dead. (R. p. 120 line 18 – p. 121 lines 1-21). The child died from a gunshot wound to the head. (R. p. 345, lines 19-23).

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for murder when the State failed to prove who fired the fatal shot and the State failed to introduce evidence that Appellant and the co-defendant joined to accomplish an illegal purpose.

In closing argument the State argued to the jury, “Nobody, I will tell you straight – up, I’m straight-up here, nobody involved in this case contends that anybody meant to shoot and kill Jaylen [J.], that’s clear and I’m not going to argue otherwise.” (R. p. 591, line 25- p.592, lines 1-3). Instead, the State relied on a theory of transferred intent, arguing that both the co-defendant Stevens and Appellant, under a theory of the hand of one is the hand of all, intended to kill Ganson and Hemphill and mistakenly struck Jaylen J.. (R. p. 592, lines 3 – p. 593, lines 1-3). The State was unable to prove who fired the fatal shot that killed Jaylen J. The State argued, “I submit to you it doesn’t matter whether you conclude he [Appellant]shot Jaylen [J.] or Marico Stevens shot Jaylen [J].” (R. p. 607, lines 15-17). The State, however, failed to offer evidence that co-defendant Stevens and the Appellant joined to accomplish an illegal purpose required under the theory of the hand of one is the hand of all. Stevens’ act of handing the gun to Appellant, after learning of the prior threats made to Appellant, without more, does not constitute an illegal purpose. Instead, the act of Stevens’ handing the gun to Appellant, demonstrates that Appellant was lawfully arming himself in self-defense. As the State failed to prove that Appellant fired the fatal shot, and, at the time shots were fired, the co-defendant had the right to act in self-defense, the State failed to prove the element of malice required for murder, even under a theory of transferred intent.

At the close of the State's case, Appellant moved for a directed verdict of acquittal. (R. p. 585, lines 22-25). The judge denied the motion for directed verdict stating, "In the light most favorable to the State, under the hand of one, hand of all situation he could be guilty of various crimes." The judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for murder.

First, the State offered no evidence that Appellant and co-defendant Stevens joined to accomplish an illegal purpose. "Under the 'hand of one is the hand of all' theory, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose." State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584. The State failed to establish liability under the hand of one is the hand of all¹. The State presented evidence that after learning that Appellant had been threatened in the mobile home park and warned that if he returned he should be armed, co-defendant provided a gun to Appellant. The State did not present evidence that Appellant and co-defendant Stevens went to the mobile home park to seek retaliation. Instead, the evidence shows that Appellant and Steven were simply taking Emmie Coats home. Appellant did not join co-defendant Stevens to accomplish an illegal purpose but merely legally armed himself in self-defense.

Second, the State argues that Appellant was not entitled to self defense because he was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty. (R. p. 606, lines 2-19). The question of whether Appellant was entitled to have shot in self-defense after he turned his back and walked away and Ganson and Hemphill fired the first shots, would have been a

¹ The judge charged the jury, without objection, on the theory of the hand of one is the hand of all. (R. p. 649, lines 12-21). This error may need to be raised in post conviction relief.

question for the jury if the State established that Appellant fired the fatal shot. The State, however, can not prove that Appellant fired the fatal shot. Co-defendant Stevens was clearly without fault in bringing on the difficulty and was entitled to have fired back at Ganson and Hemphill in self-defense. If Stevens had been on trial, based the evidence presented by the State at Appellant's trial, the judge would have erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal. See State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97 (2011). As the State proceeded under the hand of one is the hand of all, the judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for murder as to Appellant.

In closing the State argued, "Well, if Carter didn't shoot the gun then how did Stevens get the gun? From Carter. One way or the other Stevens – if you believe Stevens shot, Stevens ended up with the gun from Carter during something that Carter started. They're both guilty of it, we're only trying Carter today but they're both guilty of the murder of Jaylen [J.] based on all of the facts and circumstances of what happened." (R. p. 609, lines 13-20). The State's theory ignores the absence of any evidence that Appellant and co-defendant Stevens joined to accomplish an illegal purpose. The evidence shows that co-defendant Stevens handed the gun to Appellant and Appellant legally armed himself in self-defense before taking Coats home to the mobile home park where Appellant had been threatened. Additionally, the State's theory ignores co-defendant Stevens' right to act in self-defense once Ganson and Hemphill started shooting.

In State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 107, 610 S.E.2d 859, 866 (Ct.App. 2005) the South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote:

Where two or more acting with a common plan or intent [are] present at the commission of a crime, it does not

matter who actually commits the crime, all are guilty. The hand of one is the hand of all. Present means to be sufficiently near to aid and abet and assist in the commission of the crime. Intent is also a necessary element, for there must have been a common design or intent to commit the crime, and the crime must have been committed pursuant to that plan, with the person aiding and abetting by some overt act.

The only common intent between Appellant and co-defendant Stevens was the intent to defend themselves from earlier threats and then when the parties made good on the threat, defending themselves from the shots being fired from across the street.

The State's theory of transferred intent fails because the State failed to establish that Appellant fired the fatal shot. If Appellant did not fire the fatal shot, no intent existed and no intent could be transferred. Additionally, the State's theory of transferred intent fails because the State failed to establish that Appellant and co-defendant Stevens joined to accomplish an illegal purpose required under the hand of one is the hand of all theory argued by the State and ruled upon by the judge as the reason for denying the directed verdict motion.

In State v. Fennell, 340 S.C. 266, 272-273, 531 S.E.2d 512, 516-517 (2000) the South Carolina Supreme Court, in addressing the theory of transferred intent, wrote:

In the classic case, the defendant intends to kill or seriously injure one person, but misses that person and mistakenly kills another. Although the defendant did not act with malice toward the unintended victim, the defendant's criminal intent to kill the intended victim (i.e., his mental state of malice) is transferred to the unintended victim. "If there was malice in [defendant's] heart, he was guilty of the crime charged, it matters not whether he killed his intended victim or a third person through mistake." State v. Heyward, 197 S.C. 371, 377, 15 S.E.2d 669, 672 (1941) (affirming murder conviction where defendant testified he mistakenly shot and killed police officer who allegedly broke open his front door, believing the officer to be an

assassin sent by an angry former employer). See also State v. Gandy, 283 S.C. 571, 324 S.E.2d 65 (1984) (affirming murder conviction where defendant intending to kill one man shot through a closed door, killing unintended victim instead), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Lowry*, 315 S.C. 396, 434 S.E.2d 272 (1993); State v. Horne, 282 S.C. 444, 447, 319 S.E.2d 703, 704 (1984) (holding that State in future may prosecute defendant for murder of viable fetus when defendant attacks a pregnant woman with malice and in the process kills the fetus, an unintended victim); State v. Williams, 189 S.C. 19, 24, 199 S.E. 906, 908 (1938) (affirming murder conviction where defendant shot at intended victim who was driving a wagon of cotton, but missed him and mistakenly killed the man sitting beside him); LaFave & Scott, Substantive Criminal Law, § 3.12(d) (1986) (discussing transferred intent); McAninch & Fairey, at 17-19 (same).

The theory of transferred intent does not apply in the present case. The State can not prove that co-defendant Steven acted with malice when he shot in self defense and the bullet mistakenly hit Jaylen J. The State failed to prove that Appellant fired the fatal shot and failed to prove that Appellant and co-defendant Stevens joined to accomplish an illegal purpose under a theory of the hand of one is the hand of all. The judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal. Because the State relied upon the theory of the hand of one is the hand of all, this Court should remand the case and order the trial court to direct a verdict of acquittal for the murder charge.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above argument, this court should reverse the sentence and conviction and remand to the trial court to direct a verdict of acquittal.