ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lancaster County
J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2011-203566

RECEIVED
AUG 05 2013
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTHONY RODRIEKUS CARTER,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 4806

P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

DOUGLAS A. BARFIELD, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit
PO Box 607
Lancaster, SC 29721-0607

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

ARGUMENTS

I. Carter's argument is not properly before this Court on direct appeal because he failed to present the same argument to the trial judge.

Carter moved for a directed verdict at the close of the State's case. In its entirety, he argued that:

MR. LIFSEY: All right. Judge, I would move for a directed verdict. I could cite *State versus Dickey* and I would leave that matter to your discretion which is the self-defense defense for the jury.

R. p. 58, lines 22-25. The trial judge denied his motion, finding that Carter could be guilty of various crimes under a theory of accomplice liability. **R. p. 586, lines 1-3.**

The case to which Carter was apparently referring is *State v. Dickey*, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97 (2011). In *Dickey*, the Supreme Court held that the defendant, who had been convicted of voluntary manslaughter, was entitled to a directed verdict in his homicide trial because the prosecution had failed to disprove self-defense. *Id* at 499-503, 716 S.E.2d at 101-03. The case does not deal in any fashion with questions of transferred intent and accomplice liability, as now being argued. Further, Carter did not object to the trial judge's decision to charge accomplice liability (**R. pp. 576-77**) or the subsequent jury instruction on this legal theory. **R. pp. 649-50.** Instead, he reasonably conceded that this charge was supported by the evidence, stating, "I understand. I can't argue with your reasoning on that." **R. p. 577, lines 2-3.**

It is a well settled rule of appellate practice that a party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal. *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5-6, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989); *State v. Byram*, 326 S.C. 107, 485 S.E.2d 360 (1997) (same). It is equally well settled that "[t]o be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented

to and passed upon by the trial court.” *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct.App. 1996). *See also State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 60-71, 406 S.E.2d 315, 324-29 (1991) (Toal, J., concurring in result and joining Justice Chandler’s concurrence in result) (abolishing the doctrine of *in favorem vitae* review in capital cases and requiring contemporaneous objection or motion to preserve issue for appellate review); *State v. Vanderbilt*, 287 S.C. 597, 340 S.E.2d 543 (1986) (“Issues not properly preserved at trial may not be raised for the first time on appeal. To the extent that *State v. Griffin*, [129 S.C. 200, 124 S.E. 81 (1924)], may be inconsistent with this result it is overruled”). “Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

Here, Carter not only did not advance the same argument at trial, he affirmatively conceded the existence of evidence supporting a jury charge on accomplice liability. *Cf. State v. Nathari*, 303 S.C. 188, 200, 399 S.E.2d 597, 605 (Ct.App. 1990) (even assuming that recklessness was an element of felony D.U.I. and should have been charged to the jury, defense counsel conceded appellant’s “recklessness in his closing argument and thereby has waived any objection to the trial court’s charge in this regard”); *State v. Mayfield*, 235 S.C. 11, 23-24, 109 S.E.2d 716, 724 (1959) (“One may not take his chance of a favorable verdict and, after an unfavorable one, raise an objection that should have been made before the verdict was rendered”). Thus, his present argument is not properly before this Court on appeal.

II. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by denying Carter's motion for a directed verdict because the State's direct and circumstantial evidence reasonably tended to prove that Carter fired the bullet that killed his three year old victim or that, if the fatal shot was fired by his co-defendant, Maurico Stevens, Carter was guilty under a theory of accomplice liability.

Assuming *arguendo* that the Court finds his procedurally barred argument nevertheless preserved for appellate review, Carter contends that the trial judge erred by denying his motion for a directed verdict because the State did not prove the identity of the shooter and it failed to present any evidence that Carter and his co-defendant, Marico Stevens, joined to accomplish an illegal purpose, so as to make both men culpable under a theory of accomplice liability. The State disagrees and submits that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by denying Carter's motion for a directed verdict because the State's direct and circumstantial evidence reasonably tended to prove that Carter fired the bullet that killed his three year old victim or that, if the fatal shot was fired by Stevens, Carter was nevertheless guilty under a theory of accomplice liability. Further, Carter affirmatively conceded below that there was sufficient evidence of accomplice liability to warrant a jury charge on that theory. **R. p. 577, lines 2-3.**

A. The prosecution's evidence.

This case was prosecuted under a theory of accomplice liability. As can be reasonably expected in a homicide case with eyewitnesses, there were varying accounts offered as to what occurred. The direct and circumstantial evidence presented at trial, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, was as follows.

Rondriana Lanisha "Nisha" Cunningham testified that she was the victim's mother and that her daughter was three years old on May 3, 2010. She and the victim shared an apartment along with Nisha's boyfriend of over a year, Marico Stevens. Nisha

had met Green, who worked with Stevens, on one occasion and she told Stevens that she did not like him. **R. pp. 125-28.**

On Monday, May 3, 2010, Stevens picked Nisha up from York Tech, where she was going to school, around 6:15 p.m. He was driving their only vehicle, Nisha's blue, 1998 Chevrolet Malibu, and the victim was with him.¹ They got home at 6:30 and Nisha remained there. However, Stevens and the victim left the apartment later that evening, with Stevens telling Nisha that he was going to his father's house to get some money. Nisha got a phone call from Stevens at approximately 9:49 p.m., and she immediately went to the emergency room of Springs Memorial Hospital, in Lancaster. **R. pp. 128-32.** Nisha identified a gun for the Sheriff's Department as one that Stevens kept. **R. pp. 133-61.**

The victim was treated for a gunshot wound to her head at the hospital. Eventually, she was airlifted to Carolinas Medical Center, in Charlotte, North Carolina, that same night or early in the morning of May 4, 2010. Doctors treated her there, but Dr. Thomas D. Owens, medical examiner from Mecklenburg County, North Carolina, pronounced her dead at 6:15 a.m. **R. pp. 132-33; 340-41.**

The forensic pathologist who performed the autopsy of the victim, Dr. Janice Ross, opined that the cause of death was "[a]noxic encephalopathy," meaning that the victim's "brain was damaged enough to be actually dead due to laceration of the brain due to the gunshot wound of the head." Dr. Ross explained that "the bullet entered the right side of the head towards the back and it went forward and to the left slightly

¹ He had picked her up from daycare.

upward, and it came out of the head, the left side of the head just above the left ear.” Otherwise, the victim had been a healthy little girl. **R. pp. 342-45.**

Emmie Amanda Coats testified that she lived in a Lancaster County mobile home park in May of 2010. Although they were not “boyfriend and girlfriend,” she and Carter - who was known by the nickname of “Ant” - were romantically involved. Before May 3, 2010, Coats had never met or heard of either Stevens or the victim. Sometime after the shooting, Coats became romantically involved with Beneco “Neco” Ganson. **R. pp. 176-81.**

At the time of the murder, Coates worked as a nursing assistant from 11:00 p.m. until 7:00 a.m. each day. Coats described the trailer park in which she lived as a place where “[l]arge groups of people just hang[] out in the road or at someone's house” almost daily. Stevens, Ganson, J.D. Hemphill and John Jerrod “John John” Hill, routinely hung out there. Also, Coats regularly heard gunfire in the trailer park. **R. pp. 181-84; 187.**

On the night of May 3, 2010, Coates walked over to Carter’s residence, after they had corresponded by text messages. Several minutes later, Stevens arrive at Carter’s residence. The victim was with him and he was driving the Malibu. Then, “[t]hey told me they were going to take me home.” So, they all piled into the car. Stevens was driving, Carter was in the passenger seat, the victim was sitting in a car seat behind him and Coates was on the rear, passenger side. **R. pp. 187-92.**

Following a brief stop at a convenience store, they headed to Coates’ trailer. Carter had previously told Coates about a dispute that he had with Ganson, Hemphill, and Hill over something he had stolen from them. However, he did not tell her any details.

Along the way to her residence, Carter told Stevens “about an incident that had happened between them earlier in the trailer park a few days before that came from the dispute that they had,” in which the group had chased Carter out of the trailer park.² **R. pp. 192-22; 221; 223.**

She described their conversation as a “hyped up situation” and she explained that Carter was not talking like he was worried or he did not want to go to the trailer park. To the contrary, Coates got the impression that “he wanted to see them on the way over there, like it kind of excited him that he was going into the trailer park.” Although there was no discussion about whether anyone from the other group was at the trailer park, Stevens “reach[ed] down ... under his seat and he passed Ant the gun.” Carter laid the gun in his lap. **R. pp. 192-95; 221; 224; 231-32.**

As they approached her trailer, Coates saw Ganson, Hemphill and some other people crowded around an older model, light colored car that was parked near the roadway.³ This group was across the street and some distance from Coates’ trailer. Carter also saw the group and said, “There they go.” When they reached Coates’ residence, Stevens parked the Malibu close to the trailer and not completely in the driveway, so that the front of the vehicle was closest to the trailer. **R. pp. 197-203; 217-18; State’s Exhibits 9-10.**

As soon as the car stopped, Carter jumped out of it and began walking toward the roadway. He had the weapon at his side, covered by his shirt. Coates did not want any

² On cross-examination, she testified that she was only aware of one incident. On that occasion, Ganson ran Carter out of the trailer park and told Carter, if he ever saw Carter again, Carter “better have a gun.” Carter was reluctant to come to the trailer park for about a week after this incident. **R. p. 223.**

³ Hill was not present. **R. pp. 199-200.**

trouble at her residence. So, she got out of the driver's side rear door and ran to the passenger side, pleading with Carter "Don't do this, don't do this near my house." Carter and Hemphill⁴ met "in the middle like they were facing off." (Sic). **R. pp. 203-205.**

Stevens was standing by the front passenger side of the car and near the front of the car, while the victim remained in the unbuckled child seat. Although Carter and Hemphill spoke, Coates could not hear what was said. By then, she was on the steps to her residence. After other members of Hemphill's group joined in the argument, Carter "turned and walked ... back towards the car on the passenger side." **R. pp. 205-06.**

By the time "[h]e got between the end of the car and probably the back passenger side door," Coates heard a shot and she "saw a flash from across the street." When Carter turned as if he was going to fire back at the group and Stevens was yelling for him to "squeeze," Coates ran into her trailer and heard "eight or nine" more gunshots. As soon as the shooting stopped, she looked out of a window, and she saw the Malibu backing out of her driveway and "people running" into nearby woods. **R. pp. 206-09; 228.**

Coates did not know that anyone had been shot until Carter telephoned her from the hospital and told her that his "baby cousin" had been shot.⁵ Coates went to work that night. She spoke to police on the night of May 3rd and again the following morning. Even though she was aware that the victim had been shot by that time, she was not completely honest about what she had seen until she gave a second written statement on the 4th,

⁴ Coates did not see Hemphill, Ganson or anyone, other than Carter, with a weapon. **R. pp. 204-05.**

⁵ It was her understanding that Stevens was the victim's father and that Stevens and Carter were cousins. Also, she and Carter later exchanged text messages that night. **R. p. 210.**

because she did not want to be involved. She found three .40 caliber shell casings in the yard, close to her residence on the morning of the 4th (**State's Exhibit 11**), which she gave to Inv. Danny Bennett, of the Lancaster Sheriff's Department, when he came to her residence looking for them. **R. pp. 184-86; 209-14; 219-20; 236-39; 396.**

Beneco Ganson testified that he knew Carter, or Ant, from school, and that he was good friends with both J.D. Hemphill and John Jerrod Hill. He also confirmed that he and Coates had been romantically involved. However, he denied knowing Stevens. **R. pp. 276-78; 305.**

Ganson and many of his friends hang out in the trailer park where Coates lived and he agreed that it was "a hangout place." A dispute arose between Hill and Carter roughly two months before the murder. While Ganson was not present when the transaction leading to the dispute occurred, he was told that Carter owed Hill money. On the night of May 3, 2010, he was with the mother of his child, Jennifer Morris, at the home of Morris' mother where he also lived. Eventually, he went to the trailer park in question "around 7:30 or 8:00." **R. pp. 278-81; 307.**

Subsequent to the initial dispute but before the shooting, Ganson, Hemphill and Hill accosted Carter as he was leaving Coates' trailer. Also, they beat up Carter's brother on another occasion. **R. pp. 299-306.**

Ganson had planned to meet Hemphill and did not know if anyone else would be there. Ganson was unarmed. He saw Hemphill, who was likewise unarmed at the time, but he did not see Hill. Carter was not there when he first arrived. He and Hemphill were talking as they stood near the Honda owned by Hemphill's girlfriend, across the street

and two or three trailers from Coates' trailer. An unfamiliar car pulled into Coates driveway and three people got out of it. At first, Ganson could not see the faces of these people, but he soon saw Carter walking across the street and headed in the direction of Ganson and Hemphill. **R. pp. 281; 285-89.**

As Carter got close to them, Hemphill walked toward Carter in the road. Carter had an automatic pistol "[b]y his side, he pulled it up" and pointed it at Hemphill. The two men continued to argue with one another. Ganson heard Carter tell Hemphill, "I ought to shoot you but I ain't want [(sic)] to do the time." He also asked, "What you gone do now?" Then, Carter turned and walked back into Coates' driveway. The last time Ganson saw Carter, he was "a good little ways" from the car, while he and Hemphill were on opposite sides of the Honda. **R. pp. 289-94.**

According to Ganson,

When he turned around and walked back to his direction, the girl we was talking to, she had my phone in her car so we walked to the car and I was trying to get my stuff from her and everything, she had moved my phone and everything and the next thing I know I heard the gunshots. When I heard the gunshots I took off running behind this trailer and I hid under the trailer until the gunshots stopped. When the gunshots stopped I laid right there for about an hour or two and ... me and J. D. ran through the woods and met up at Crimson Drive, and when we met up on Crimson Drive I think [Hemphill] walked up toward the store, I went in the woods and hid in the woods because the police and stuff was around.

R. p. 292, lines 3-16.⁶ *See also R. pp. 294-95.* Also, Hemphill had a gun by the time the shooting occurred but Ganson was still unarmed and he did not see anyone else with a

⁶ He did not know if the police were looking for him, but he was on probation and had not reported. **R. p. 292.** He explained that the girl left in her Honda after the shooting. **R. p. 296.** Further, he had not said anything to Carter during the incident. **R. pp. 298-99.** Also, he learned the following day that law enforcement had found his cell phone. **R. pp. 293-94.**

gun. **R. p. 294.**⁷

At some point late that night or early the following morning, Morris picked up Ganson and ultimately took him to Hill's residence where he stayed until later on the morning of the 4th. After receiving a phone call from Hemphill, on the 4th, he had Morris take him to the Lancaster County Sheriff's Department and he gave a statement. He was immediately arrested as the result of a detainer from York County for unrelated charges. **R. pp. 282-84.** Morris corroborated his account with respect to the times he claimed that he had been with her. **R. pp. 264-71.**

Although there had just been a shooting, there was a hole in the rear window and the Malibu had two bullet holes in it, apparently neither Stevens nor Carter bothered to check on the well-being of the three year old victim. This is readily inferrable from evidence that, instead of driving to the hospital immediately, Stevens drove to the apartment of his father's friend, Lawrence Alexander, where his father, Eric Sanders, was playing cards. Stevens excitedly told those present that his car had been shot up. Only when someone inquired about the victim's well-being did he go to the car and Carter handed her to him. Then, he only took her to the hospital after the others who had seen the condition of the car and saw blood coming from her head ordered him to do so. **R. pp. 327-34; 337; 346-51.**

Kayla Estes was Carter's girlfriend on May 3, 2010. Estes knew Ganson, Hemphill and Hill. However, she did not know Stevens. Carter told her that he had a beef

⁷ Ken Benson lives across the street and some distance down the street from Coates, in the same trailer park. He was inside his home when he heard the shooting. He immediately told his daughter to go to the back end of the trailer and he ducked when the shooting began. He went outside after the shooting was over and saw the Honda drive away from the area. In all, he heard between five and ten shots. **R. pp. 137-45.**

with the other men she knew “[o]ver money,” and he had told her that “he would handle it.” Between 9:00 and 10:00 p.m., Carter called her from his residence and told her about what had occurred at the trailer park. **R. pp. 315-20.**

On cross-examination, Carter elicited that Carter had told her that “there was a problem;” that he and Hemphill had met in the roadway; and that both men agreed that the matter was “quashed.” Carter also told her that after he had turned and walked away from Hemphill, Ganson said, “F--- that, I’ll get him.” At that point, Carter heard shots. Stevens wound up with the gun and began shooting. Afterwards, they drove to the hospital. **R. pp. 320-21.**

At 9:53 p.m. on May 3, 2010, Craig Greenlee, then in the patrol division of the City of Lancaster Police Department, was parked in the parking lot of a Main St. restaurant when a late model Malibu passed. The vehicle had its emergency flashers on and was traveling at a high rate of speed. Officer Greenlee pulled in behind the vehicle, which did not stop even after he turned on both his blue lights and siren. As they were driving, he noticed that the car’s rear window “had been shot out” and he reported this to dispatch. **R. pp. 93-98.**

Officer Greenlee ultimately followed the Malibu to the emergency room driveway at Springs Memorial Hospital, where it stopped. Carter and Stevens got out of the vehicle and Carter carried a smaller person into the emergency room. Both men were yelling and both had blood on their clothing. Officer Greenlee had to force both men out of the emergency room, so that the medical personnel could treat the victim. Both men told him

that Ganson was responsible for the victim's condition and that the incident had occurred on Mcilwaine Rd. **R. pp. 98-102.**

Because Mcilwaine Rd. is not in the City of Lancaster, he reported this information to dispatch and asked for assistance from the Lancaster County Sheriff's Department. He then helped secure the vehicle until members of the Sheriff's Department arrived. While there, he not only saw the damage to the rear window, he also saw two bullet holes in the roof of the car. **R. pp. 103-04.**

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